A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Superior Court of Spokane County, State of 

Washington, erred in cause no. 11-1-02618-4 by accepting the 

prosecution's proposed findings of fact over Cherina Everman

Jones objections and by entering these findings of fact that were 

either incomplete, misleading, and/or not supported· by the record 

and/or authorized by law at the February 2, 2012 suppression 

hearing and refusing to enter Cherina Everman-Jones proposed 

findings of fact.. [April 20, 2012 Presentment RP 17-24; CP 286-

288, 303-307, 314-316, 303-307]. 

2. The Superior Court of Spokane County, State of 

Washington, erred in cause no. 11-1-02618-4 in denying Cherina 

Everman-Jones motion to suppress and return the seized dog [CP 

12-114] after the animal control officer without authority of law 

entered a constitutionally protected area (Cherina Everman-Jones 

backyard) and gathered evidence and also seized Cherina 

Everman-Jones dog without a warrant as required by law. 

[February 2, 2012 Motion RP 3-15; Testimony RP 2-43; CP 314-

316] 
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3. The Superior Court of Spokane County, State of 

Washington, further erred on March 26, 2012 by denying Cherina 

Everman-Jones motion to dismiss count II [March 26, 2012 Trial 

RP 156-163] and entering an order allowing Count II to proceed to 

the jury. [CP 321-322]. 

4. The Superior Court of Spokane County, State of 

Washington, erred in cause no. 11-1-02618-4 by denying Cherina 

Everman-Jones motion to arrest judgment and dismiss [CP 280-

285] and after the court dismissed Count 1 [CP 321-322} and the 

jury returned a not guilty verdict of Count II rCp 271], the court also 

erred by accepting the verdict of the jury that Cherina Everman

Jones was guilty of Second Degree Animal Cruelty which was 

n~ver charged by Information or Amended Information and over 

objection by Cherina Everman-Jones. [March 26, 2012 Trial RP 

262; April 25, 2012 Motions RP 316-319]. 

5. The Superior Court of Spokane County, State of 

Washington, further erred on April 26, 2012 in entering, in cause 

no~ 11-1-02618-4, the gross misdemeanor judgment and sentence, 

against Cherina Everman-Jones, based upon the erroneous 

acceptance by the court of the foregoing verdict [April 25, 2012 

Sentencing RP 320-339; CP 327-331]. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 
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1. Whether Cherina Everman-Jones assignment of errors to 

finding of fact 2, 3, 5-10, 12-14 and related conclusions of law 1,2 

and 3 are misleading, incomplete and not supported by sufficient 

evidence from the record. [April 20, 2012 Presentment RP 17-24; 

CP 314-316, 286-288, 303-313] [ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 

1]. 

2. Whether Cherina Everman-Jones constitutional rights 

under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, 

and Article I, sections 7 of the Washington State Constitution and 

statutory rights under RCW 16.52.085 were violated, when the 

Superior Court denied her motion to suppress, return her dog and 

dismiss.. [ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO.2]. 

3. Whether Cherina Everman-Jones right to due process 

and a fair trial were violated when the Superior Court of Spokane 

County, State of Washington, on March 26, 2012 denied Cherina 

Everman-Jones motion to dismiss count II [March 26, 2012 Trial 

RP 156-163] and entering an order allowing Count II to proceed to 

the jury. [CP 321-322] and allowed the jury's conviction of Animal 

Cruelty in the Second Degree to be entered when there was not 

sufficient evidence to convict. [ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO.3]. 
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4. Whether Cherina Everman-Jones constitutional rights 

under Article I, section 22, of the Washington State Constitution 

were violated when the Superior Court of Spokane County, State of 

Washington, in cause no. 11-1-02618-4 denied Cherina Everman

Jones motion to arrest judgment and dismiss [CP 280-285] and 

after the court dismissed Count 1 [CP 321-322} and the jury 

returned a not guilty verdict of Count II [CP 271], the court also 

erred by accepting the verdict of the jury that Cherina Everman

Jones was guilty of Second Degree Animal Cruelty which was 

never charged by Information or Amended Information and over 

objection by Cherina Everman-Jones. [March 26, 2012 Trial RP 

262; April 25, 2012 Motions RP316-319]. [ASSIGNMENT OF 

ERROR NO.4]. 

5. Whether Cherina Everman-Jones constitutional rights 

were violated.when the Superior Court of Spokane County, State of 

Washington, on April 26, 2012 entered, in cause no. 11-1-02618-4, 

the gross misdemeanor judgment and sentence, against Cherina 

Everman-Jones, based upon the erroneous acceptance by the 

court of the foregoing verdict [April 25, 2012 Sentencing RP 320-

339; CP 327-331]. [ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO.5]. 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Factual Background. On or about August 10, 2011, about 

1245pm, Animal Control Officer Montano received a telephone 

complaint that there was a dog tied up with its bones sticking out 

and it was very thin. Animal Officer Montano responded at 1331 

hours to a double wide trailer located at 5910 West Spring Road in 

Marshall, Washington which she found out belonged to Cherina 

Everman-Jones, a single mother of two children[February 2, 2012 

Testimony of Montano; RP 4-5; March 26, 2012 Trial, RP 211-212; 

CP 98}. Animal Officer Montano pulled into the driveway and got 

out of her dog catcher truck and while standing next to her truck 

she could see a large black and white dog tied in the backyard. 

From this distance, the dog appeared very thin and she reportedly 

could see the ribs, lumbar vertebrae and pelvic bone from a 

distance. Montano then walked to the front door and knocked but 

nobody answered. [CP 97, 109, exhibit 1-2 at hearing]. Montano 

further saw that the dog was not dying and was in fact responsive 

to throwing stuff, standing without problems, wagging its tail and 

not having any trouble moving. [February 2, 2012 Testimony of 

Montano, RP 27-28, 35-36, CP 109]. "From this vantage point, I 
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could see that there was a thin dog." Therefore, from this legal 

"open view" location in the driveway, the officer could only ascertain 

that the dog was thin. [February 2, 2012 Testimony of Montano, 

RP 13, 32]. Officer Montano could not see into the entire backyard 

without stepping off the driveway and walking into the backyard. 

[February 2, 2012 Testimony of Montano, RP 29]. Although 

Montano could see from the driveway that there was shade from 

the house for the dog, she claimed she had immediate concern for 

the dog being tied in the backyard with direct sunlight in areas so 

she had to get a "closer look" than what was seen in plain view. 

[February 2, 2012 Testimony of Montano, RP 30-32, CP 25-27]. 

Without a warrant or consent from the owner, the animal officer 

stepped into the backyard to get a better assessment of it. 

[February 2, 2012 Testimony of Montano, RP 8]. While Montano 

was in the backyard, she took several pictures and went to the 

back porch patio where she also noticed several dog bowls and 

one with several inches of clean water. Montano agreed that the 

empty bowl could have been used for feeding and the dog could 

have been fed that morning but she never looked under the bowl to 

see if there was any evidence of feeding that morning. [February 2, 
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2012 Testimony of Montano, RP 30]. The animal control officer 

also put her hands on the dog and claimed she was able to feel 

bones and skin. After searching the backyard, she was able to 

ascertain that the condition of the dog was worse than when she 

was standing closer to her truck. [February 2, 2012 Testimony of 

Montano, RP 8-9, 13-16, 29-32, CP 32-34,37-38,97-98, 110-114]. 

Additionally, the Officer stated that the dog was not whimpering or 

wincing in pain at any time. [CP 88]. At this point, she decided to 

remove the dog. According to Officer Montano's August 10, 2011 

report, she wrote that "Given the immediate poor condition of the 

dog I determined for her safety to remove her and take her to a 

veterinary clinic. I loaded the dog into my truck ... " [February 2, 

2012 Montano Testimony, RP 8-9, CP 80-82, 97]. However, five 

days later on August 15, 2011, after going to the prosecutor's 

office, Montano, for the first time mentions in an additional report 

filed the same day the words "life threatening condition" and 

changed her reason for the first time to "It should be noted that at 

the time of removal the dog was severely emaciated and in, life

threatening condition. I had immediate concern for the dog given 

her poor body condition and the fact that the dog was tied in the 

- 7 -



backyard in direct sun withQut proper shelter". [CP 114]. The dQg 

was able tQ walk and even jump up .on the truck with its paws up. 

[February 2, 2012 TestimQny .of MQntanQ, RP 15, 27]. When 

asked under .oath at the suppressiQn hearing if MQntanQ thQught 

the dQg was near death when she seized her, she CQuid .only say 

that she didn't knQw fQr sure what was causing the dQg's physical 

cQnditiQn. In resPQnse tQ the next question of CQuid yQU have 

taken thirty minutes and gotten a telephQnic warrant, she admitted 

that "We have nQt dQne telephQnic search warrants in .our 

department." [February 2, 2012 TestimQny .of MQntanQ, RP 41]. 

This dQg named Harley is naturally built thin where its back part .of 

the body is smaller than its head. [February 2, 2012 TestimQny .of 

MQntanQ, RP 39, CP 37-51]. Officer MQntano had dQg fQQd in her 

truck during and after seizing Ms. Everman-JQnes dQg but never 

fed the dQg while at the residence. [February 2, 2012 TestimQny .of 

MontanQ, RP 39-40]. In fact, it was an additiQnal 40 minutes after 

leaving the residence befQre the animal was fed. [ep 86]. Next, 

Officer MontanQ tQQk the dQg tQ the Vet .office where Harley was 

examined by Dr. Fosberg. There were nQ emergency medical 

steps taken by the vet and he indicated that all the dQg needed was 
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food. [CP 69, 86]. Dr. Fosberg agreed that the condition of the 

dog at the time he saw her on August 10, 2011 was not in any way 

an immediate life threatening condition. He explained that Harley's 

condition "did not appear to be a life threatening situation to me, it 

just needed more groceries and urn needed treatment for the ear 

infection, which was again non-life threatening". [CP 70, 74]. Dr. 

Fosberg documented the examination of Harley in his written 

summary and wrote that the complaint was a "thin" dog and 

besides an abnormal body appearance and an ear infection, 

everything from Harley's heart to digestive track was "normal". [ep 

104). However, Officer Montano continued to seize the dog and 

take Harley to the pound and caged her. [CP 103]. 

2. Procedural History. On August 19, 2011, Cherina 

Everman-Jones was charged by Information under no. 11-1-02618-

4 with Animal Cruelty in the First Degree under intentionally inflict 

sUbstantial pain on an animal. [CP 1]. Thereafter, on February 2, 

2012 Cherina Everman-Jones was charged by amended 

Information with a second count of Animal Cruelty in the First 

Degree under criminal negligence, starve an animal which as a 

result caused substantial and unjustified physical pain that 
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extended for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering. 

[CP 160]. 

On February 2, 2012, the Honorable Spokane County 

Superior Court Judge Salvatore Cozza presided over the 

suppression hearing based on the motion and attached exhibits 

filed by Ms. Everman-Jones to Suppress Evidence and Dismiss 

and Return her Dog. At this hearing, the parties and court agreed 

and allowed defense to admit evidence and exhibits that were filed 

and attached to the defense motion in lieu of further testimony. 

[February 2, 2012 Motion Hearing, RP 5-6; CP 12-114]. Animal 

Control Officer Montano testified at this hearing [February 2, 2012 

Testimony of Montano, RP 2-43] and afterwards, the court denied 

the defendant's motion. Honorable Judge Cozza stated that this 

motion involves the "concept of expectation of privacy and the 

medieval definition of "curtilage""and basically the animal control 

officer did not break or enter when she walked from the front yard 

and travel around the house and into Ms. Everman-Jones backyard 

to get a "better assessment" under "plain view". As to the 

"immediate life threatening condition" issue required by RCW 

16.52.085(1), the court ruled that this allows officer discretion. And 

the taking of the dog without a warrant was appropriate. [February 

2,2012 Judge's Oral Ruling, RP 2-5]. 
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On April 20, 2012, a presentment hearing was conducted 

regarding the court's ruling at the suppression hearing. The court 

refused to sign the Defense proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusion [CP 303-313] and denied the defense objections to the 

state's proposed findings and agreed to and signed the 

prosecutor's proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law [CP 

286-288, 314-3161 over the defense objections that the State's 

Proposed Findings were incomplete, out of context, misleading and 

not supported by the evidence. [April 20, 2012 Presentment, RP 

17-24]. 
A jury trial was held March 21,22,26, and 27, 2012 [March 

21, 22, 26 and 27, 2012 Trial RP 1-340]. At the conclusion of the 

State's case, the court granted the defense motion to dismiss 

Count I on the basis that that there was not ample evidence 

presented that Ms. Everman-Jones acted intentionally. However, 

the court denied the defense motion to also dismiss Count lion the 

same basis. [March 26, 2012 Trial RP 156-163, CP 321-322]. 

By the time of jury deliberations on March 27,2012 the only 

charge leveled against Ms. Everman-Jones was count II - Animal 

Cruelty in the First Degree under criminal negligence, starve an 

animal which as a result caused substantial and unjustified physical 
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pain that extended for a period sufficient to cause considerable 

suffering. [March 26, 2012 Trial RP 156-163, CP 321-322]. [CP 

160]. Nevertheless, the instructions to the jury included the 

uncharged crime of Animal Cruelty in the Second Degree [CP 262, 

266], despite the fact Ms. Everman-Jones had not been charged 

with such crime under the February 2, 2012 amended information 

[CP 160]. Ms. Everman-Jones' counsel had earlier taken 

exception and made objection to these particular instructions at 

issue. [March 26, 2012 Trial RP 262-263, March 27,2012 Trial RP 

279-280]. 

After retiring for deliberations, the jury returned a verdict of 

not guilty to Count II Animal Cruelty in the First Degree [CP 271], 

and guilty to the lesser offense of Animal Cruelty in the Second 

Degree [CP 272]. 

On April 25, 2012, the court presided over Cherina Everman 

Jones Motion for Arrest of Judgment and Relief from Judgment. 

[April 25, 2012 Defense Motion RP 316-321; CP 280-285]. The 

court denied Ms. Everman-Jiones motion to arrest judgment and 

relief from judgment. [CP 326]. The court agreed that the case of 

State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17,246 P.3d 1260 (2011) which allowed 
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the jOint decision of defense counsel and defendant to forego a 

lesser included as an all or nothing strategy was an issue and was 

properly brought up at the time. However, the judge stated that he 

did not believe that the Supreme Court case that the defense 

submitted mandated dismissal, although he did believe that it can 

be argued in the manner the defense used and argued. After this 

denial, the court sentenced Cherina Everman-Jones to 364 days in 

jail with 354 days suspended with 10 days confinement, 24 months' 

probation, $1,500 mandatory fine, several thousand dollars in 

restitution to be determined later and forfeiture of her dog, Harley 

[April 20, 2012 Sentencing RP 319-339; CP 327-332]. Ms. 

Everman-Jones lost her job due to this conviction and has been 

found indigent. This appeal follows. 

D. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Errors of law, including errors of a constitutional magnitude, 

are reviewed de novo. See generally, State v. Horrace, 144 Wn.2d 

386, 392, 28 P.3d 753 (2001); see also, State v. Cauthron, 120 

Wn.2d 879, 887, 846 P.2d 502 (1993); State v. Dunn, 125 Wn.App. 

582,690, 105 P.3d 1022 (2005); State v. Medina, 112 Wn.App. 40, 

48, 48 P.3d 1005 (2002). Thus, errors in jury instructions in the 
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context of uncharged crimes are of constitutional magnitude and 

are reviewed de novo. See generally, State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 

628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), cert. denied, 518 U.S. 1026, 135 

L.Ed.2d 1084, 116 S.Ct. 2568 (1996). Also, in a criminal case, an 

error of constitutional magnitude involving a . significant 

constitutional right is presumed prejudicial, and requires reversal on 

appeal unless the prosecution establishes such error was harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Spotted Elk, 109 Wn. App. 

253, 261, 34 P.3d 906 (2001); see also, State v. Miller, 131 Wn.2d 

78, 90, 929 P.2d 372 (1997); State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 94, 

882 P.2d 747 (1994). 

E.ARGUMENT 

1. Cherina Everman-Jones assigns and claims error to 
finding of fact 2. 3. 5-10. 12-14 and related conclusions of law 
1, 2 and 3 and also argues that the court's findings of fact are 
misleading. incomplete and not supported by sufficient 

. evidence from the record. [April 20. 2012 Presentment RP 17-
24; CP 314-316. 286-288. 303-3131 [Issue No. 11. 

On April 20, 2012, a presentment hearing was conducted 

regarding the court's ruling at the suppression hearing. The court 

refused to sign the Defense proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusion [CP 303-313] and denied the defense objections to the 

state's proposed findings and· agreed to and signed the 
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prosecutor's proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law [CP 

286-288, 314-316] over the defense objections that the State's 

Proposed Findings were incomplete, out of context, misleading, 

irrelevant, prejudicial since some of findings had nothing to do with 

the issues or Ms. Everman-Jones and several findings were not 

supported by the evidence. [April 20, 2012 Presentment, RP 17-

24]. Therefore, Ms. Everman-Jones assigns error to the specific 

findings of fact and conclusions of law as listed below. [2, 3, 5-10, 

12-14 and related conclusions of law 1, 2 and 3]. As a result, Ms. 

Everman-Jones asks this court to strike the court's findings of fact 

and conclusion of law and review the entire record including her 

exhibits and argument. Finally, Ms. Everman-Jones argues that the 

suppression hearing held on February 2, 2012 involved (3) three 

issues 

Assignment of Error for Findings of Fact No.2 involves 

the statement that Officer Montano saw from the driveway a 

severely emaciated dog and she could clearly see the dog's ribs 

and etc. However, the report and testimony indicated that the 

officer could only see a "thin dog" and that it only appeared that 

she could see the dog's ribs and etc. from that distance. "From this 
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vantage point, I could see that there was a thin dog." Therefore, 

from this legal "open view" location in the driveway, the officer 

could only ascertain that the dog was thin. [February 2, 2012 

Testimony of Montano, RP 13, 32]. Officer Montano could not see 

into the entire backyard without stepping off the driveway and 

walking into the backyard. [February 2, 2012 Testimony of 

Montano, RP 29]. This error is important in that the officer clearly 

testified and noted that she had to leave the driveway and walk into 

the backyard to get a better look and feel the dog which is in an 

area where expectation of privacy exists resulting in trespass. The 

officer had to step off the normal travel by reasonable persons 

such as the mailman in order to get a better assessment as the 

officer states. [February 2, 2012 Testimony of Montano RP 8-9, 

13-16, 29; CP 25, 32-34, 37-38, 97, 110-113]. However, the law 

requires a warrant in order for an animal control officer to trespass. 

[RCW 16.52.085(1) (2)] [CP 100]. Additionally, the law clearly 

states that "This section does not condone illegal entry onto private 

property'. Therefore, the findings are important on this issue to 

document that the officer had to trespass and step into the 

backyard where it was then that she saw a severely emancipated 
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dog and gathered evidence. The court even appeared confused by 

the findings as written since the officer at one time was in the 

driveway which would be open view but travelled in Ms. Everman

Jones backyard which is a different legal analysis. The court ruled 

that every action by the officer was in "plain view" which Ms. 

Everman-Jones argues is not the case. If these findings approved 

by the court stand unchanged and are considered verities of the 

case, then it appears that the officer was still on the driveway which 

she was not. This finding needs to be changed according to the 

true record. 

Assignment of Error for Findings of Fact No.3 states that 

the dog was chained in the backyard where everyone from the 

street could clearly see and that there was no obstruction of view 

into the backyard. However, the record shows that the officer could 

not clearly see in the entire backyard because the house was 

blocking a person's view and the officer had to walk in the backyard

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