1. 

APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The State will not be repeating the defendant's Assignments of Error due 

to their bulk. 

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED 

A. ARE THERE ANY ERRORS IN THE TRIAL COURT'S 

FINDINGS OF FACT OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW? 

B. DID THE ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER VIOLATE THE 

DEFENDANT'S RIGHTS BY ENTERING THE DEFENDANT'S 

OPEN BACKYARD TO EXAMINE THE DOG AND THE 

DOG'S CIRCUMSTANCES? 

C. WAS THERE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE 

JURY'S FINDINGS? 

D. DOES REPEATING A SERIES OF ARGUMENTS RENDER 

THOSE ARGUMENTS MORE VALID? 



III. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State notes that the defendant does not put forward a proper Statement 

of the Case. The Statement in the defendant's opening brief is largely 

argument which is counter to the requirements of a Statement of the Case under 

RAP 10.3(5). The rules require no argument be present in the Statement of the 

Case. 

[The citations to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings are listed as "RP pg. 

Number" and refer to the transcript labeled "2 February and 20 April 2012."] 

Ms. Nicole Montano works for the Spokane County Regional Animal 

Protection Service. RP 22. Before going to work for SCRAPS. Ms. Montano 

worked as a veteran airy assistance for approximately 15 years with various 

veterinary clinics around Spokane. RP 22-23. On August 10, 2011 SCRAPS 

received a phone call in the early afternoon with a complaint regarding the 

condition of a dog located in Marshall. RP 23. Officer Montano responded to the 

call and arrived at the location at approximately 1 :30 p.m. RP 23. 

The officer pulled into the driveway at the residence and got out of her 

truck. RP 23. Standing next to her truck the officer observed what appeared to be 

a very thin dog tethered in the backyard. RP 23. Ofc. Montano was able to see 

the dog' s hip bones, its ribs, and its spinal process. RP 24. Ms. Montano went to 

the front door of the residence and knocked but there was no answer. RP 24. 
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Given the original assessment from the driveway, the officer went into the 

backyard and approached the dog. RP 24. The officer could see a "completely 

emaciated" dog. RP 24. According to Officer Montano, there were no fat 

deposits on the dog and there appeared to be a loss of muscle mass. RP 24. The 

Ofc. looked around the yard had determined that the dog was tethered in the 

backyard with no doghouse and no food. RP 24. There was some water. RP 24. 

After fmishing her examinations, Officer Montano " ... determined that the 

situation warranted immediate removal for the dog." RP 25.The officer took 

pictures of the dog and then loaded him into her vehicle for transport to the 

Legacy Animal Medical Center where the dog was seen by Dr. Mark Fosberg. 

RP29. 

Prior to departing the area, Officer Montano contacted a neighbor who 

turned out to be any defendant's father. RP 31. 

Once the feeding was commenced by the caretakers, the dog gained 26.1 

pounds in 21 days. RP 33. 

Dr. Mark Fosberg testified that he is a veterinarian of some 30 years. 

RP 71. Dr. Fosberg examined the dog in question and determined that the dog 

was " ... a very thin, emaciated dog." RP 73. Dr. Fosberg noted that Dodd had 

muscle wasting along the legs and various signs of malnutrition. RP 74,75. 
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Ms. Rachael McCully is the defendant's sister and Ms. McCully testified 

for the defendant. According to Ms. McCully, the dog in question was fed in a 

normal manner. RP 160-66. 

A Mr. Lyle Polack testified that the defendant is the daughter of a long

time friend of Mr. Pollack. RP 169. Mr. Pollack stated that he never saw the dog 

in pain and had observed the defendant feeding the dog on a two meal per day 

schedule. RP 171. 

Ms. Amy Tobin testified that she was a neighbor of the defendant. RP 175. 

According to Ms. Tobin, she knew that the defendant bought dog food. Ms. 

Tobin testified that she did not see the dog in pain. RP 178. 

Ms. Diana Everman testified that she is the defendant's mother. RP 182. 

Ms. Everman testified that the dog was fed regularly and was not in pain. 

Ms. Rhonda Perry testified that she lived not far from the defendant and 

that she had not seen the dog in pain. RP 189-193. 

The defense called Ms. Erica Hearrean who is the wife of one of the 

defense counsels. RP 195. She testified that she took some pictures of the dog 

and researched the flavor of Taste of the Wild dog food. RP 196, 198. 

The defendant testified as to the types of food she fed the dog, the 

frequency of meals, etc. As with previous defense witnesses, she stated that she 

had not seen the dog showing pain. 210-225. The defendant testified regarding 

her efforts to get the dog returned to her. RP 234-35. 

4 



The jury was instructed on one count of First Degree Animal Cruelty. 

RP 277-78. The jury was also instructed as to the lesser included charge of 

Second Degree Animal Cruelty RP 279-81. 

Following deliberations the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge 

of Second Degree Animal Cruelty. RP 311. 

This appeal followed. 

IV. 

ARGUMENT 

A. THERE WERE NO ERRORS IN THE TRIAL COURT'S 
FINDINGS OF F ACT FROM THE DEFENDANT'S 
SUPPRESSION HEARING. 

The defendant contests the findings of fact signed by the judge. 

We review a trial court's denial of a suppression motion to determine 

whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact and whether 

those fmdings support the trial court's conclusions oflaw. State v. Mendez, 137 

Wn.2d 208,214,970 P.2d 722 (1999), overruled on other grounds by Brendlin v. 

California, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2007). We review 

the court's suppression hearing conclusions de novo. State v. Eisfeldt, 163 Wn.2d 

628,634, 185 P.3d 580 (2008). 

The defendant claims that Finding of Fact No.2 was erroneous because 

Officer Montano only "appeared" to see a thin dog when she pulled into the 
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defendant's driveway. The dog was chained in the backyard. 2/2/12 RP 5. The 

defendant reaches his conclusion of an erroneous finding by interpreting 

"appeared" as meaning not really seen, only something that might have been a 

thin dog seen from the driveway. This is a very strained interpretation of the 

finding of fact in question. The officer's actual testimony was that while standing 

next to her truck the officer could see the dog's hip bones, its ribs and its spinal 

process. Ms. Montano testified that from the driveway she could see the dog was 

in poor condition. 2/2/12 RP 5. "It was completely emaciated." Id. The 

defendant is incorrect when she claims the officer testified only that she could see 

a "thin" dog from the driveway. In fact there is no mention of "thin" in the 

officer's testimony on page 13 of the transcript referenced by the defendant) and 

the other reference by the defendant is an ongoing discussion regarding some 

pictures, not what the officer could see. 2/2112 RP 32. 

Other than the defendant's strained interpretation of the facts, there was 

ample evidence to support Ofc. Montano's description of the condition of the dog. 

Finding of Fact No. Three is contested by the defendant pointing out that 

if someone were standing on the other side of the defendant's residence from the 

dog, that person would not be able to see the dog. Brf. of App 17. . The defendant 

also claims the dog's chain was long enough to almost cover the backyard area. 

What the defendant does not explain is how either of these claims affects 

the substantial evidence pertaining to the dog. The finding of fact No. Three 
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stated that the dog was in open view of anyone passing by on the public road. 

This was Ofc. Montano's testimony. 2/2112 RP 6. There were no fences, trees, 

plants or other objects obstructing the view of the dog. Finding of Fact No. 

Three. 

The defendant is quite correct that if an observer placed him or herself on 

the other side of the house from the dog, the dog would go unseen. The defendant 

does not cite to authority that requires all possible viewing angles to be included 

in an entry decision. 

The defendant's claims do not mitigate the testimony ofOfc. Montano that 

there was little in the backyard and the road traversing the area was open to the 

public. There was substantial evidence in the form of Ofc. Montana's testimony 

that the backyard allowed essentially unimpeded observation of the dog. 

The defendant's challenge to Finding of Fact No. Six does not present a 

proper challenge. The defendant's goal should have been to show there was no 

substantial evidence to support the Finding of Fact. Instead, the defendant 

launches into attacks on the officer for the officer's investigative procedures 

and not obtaining a search warrant. No search warrant was needed under 

RCW 16.52.085(1): 

(1) If a law enforcement officer or animal control officer has 
probable cause to believe that an owner of a domestic animal has 
violated this chapter or a person owns, cares for, or resides with an 
animal in violation of an order issued under RCW 16.52.200(4) 
and no responsible person can be found to assume the animal's 
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care, the officer may authorize, with a warrant, the removal of the 
animal to a suitable place for feeding and care, or may place the 
animal under the custody of an animal care and control agency. In 
determining what is a suitable place, the officer shall consider the 
animal's needs, including its size and behavioral characteristics. 
An officer may remove an animal under this subsection without a 
warrant only if the animal is in an immediate life-threatening 
condition. 

RCW 16.52.085(1). 

It should be noted that the language of the statute does not say that the 

animal needs to be on death's doorstep. The statute discusses a "life-threatening 

condition." The officer is the only one who saw the dog in the backyard, the 

empty food bowl, spoke to the neighbor who clearly would not care for the dog, 

the lack of shelter and the dog's emaciated condition. The defendant called no 

witnesses at all and certainly no witness who had the same training, level of 

experience and direct knowledge of the case as did officer Montano. 

The defendant claims that Finding of Facts 7-9 were "irrelevant, 

misleading and prejudiciaL ... " Brf. of App. 20. 

The Findings were relevant as they showed that the officer had no person 

with whom to leave the dog. The Findings were certainly not "misleading" as 

Ofc. Montano was relating what the neighbor (defendant's father) told her. The 

neighbor'S attitude and his request that Ofc. Montano should just " ... take the 

dog" make it plain that the dog was in a dangerous situation with no proper care 

available. 2/2/12 RP 9-11. 
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The defendant challenges Finding of Fact No. Ten which states that Ofc. 

Montano removed the dog " . . . given the life threatening condition of the dog as 

well as for safe keeping as there was no shelter for the dog." RP 287. 

The defendant claims that there was no statement by Ofc. Montano at the 

time of the taking of the dog that the dog was in an immediate life threatening 

condition. Brf. of App. 21. The defendant is simply incorrect. Ofc. Montano 

testified that the reason she took the dog "was the totality of the situation, which 

is I have a dog in extremely poor physical condition tied up in a backyard with no 

protection from the sun." 2/2/12 RP 11. Despite the defendant's arguments, 

saving the dog from death prior to its demise would seem to be a laudable goal of 

animal control. The officer testified that the dog was in an "immediate life 

threatening condition." 2/2112 RP 42. 

Once again, the defendant misunderstands the purpose of appealing a set 

of Findings of Fact. To be sure, the defense has a completely different view of 

the events occurring on the day the dog was taken, as well as arguments 

pertaining to the situation of the dog and its surroundings. As mentioned 

previously, the purpose of challenging Findings of Facts is to show there was 

insufficient evidence to support the findings. If the trial court chooses to accept a 

certain set of facts, and the there is substantial evidence to support those facts, 

there can be no error on the part of the trial court. 
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Assuming this court agrees with the State's arguments in this brief 

regarding the Finding of Facts, the Conclusions of Law are likewise correct. 

B. THE DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL PRIVACY 
RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED. 

The defendant claims that her rights were violated when Ofc. Montano 

entered her backyard and seized her dog. Brf. of App. 26. The defendant argues 

that the animal control officer entered the curtilage of the backyard when she 

stepped away from her vehicle and into the yard. 

The trial court had a debate with the parties regarding "curtilage," but a 

definition of curtilage has little direct bearing on this case. CP 297-302. The 

Washington State Supreme Court has held that the simple presence of an officer 

within the curtilage of a residence is not a violation ofthe owner's privacy rights. 

State v. Seagull, 95 Wn.2d 898, 632 P.2d 44 (1981). According to the Seagull 

court, each case must be evaluated to determine just how private the particular 

observation point might have been. Seagull, supra at 902. 

The question is how much a reasonably respectful citizen might intrude to 

reach the same point as the officer. An officer with legitimate business may enter 

areas of the curtilage that are "impliedly open." While the officer is going to the 

questioned location, he or she is entitled to see whatever he or she can see. Id. 

In other words an officer has the same license to enter the curtilage as 

would a reasonably respectful citizen. 
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In this case, Ofc. Montano reported that there was no fence, no buildings 

and the backyard was open to a public street traversing near the property. 

2/2/12 RP 5-12. Given that the dog was chained in the open yard, it would seem 

to be a classic "open view" case. Ofc. Montano rang the home's doorbell but 

received no answer. The dog was loose, except for the restraining chain. Any 

citizen passing by could have heard the dog bark (if it barked), the chain rattle and 

generally see the presence of the dog. 

The difference in this case is that the "reasonably respectful citizen" was 

a trained Animal Control Officer. 

C. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE JURY 
TO FIND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF THE LESSER 
INCLUDED CRIME OF SECOND DEGREE ANIMAL 
CRUELTY. 

The defendant makes several legally incorrect arguments along the lines of 

insufficient evidence. 

The first error comes when the defendant attempts to claim the lesser 

included charge of second-degree animal cruelty was an "uncharged crime." Brf. 

of App. 37. Actually the lesser included charge of second degree animal cruelty 

was not "uncharged." 

Even if the trial court had not read the amended information to the 

defendant, the defendant was on notice that she could be convicted of any lesser 
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included offense by way of being arraigned on the greater charge of First Degree 

Animal Cruelty. State v. Royster, 43 Wn. App. 613, 719 P.2d 149 (1986). 

The next error made by the defendant is the attempt to claim that there was 

insufficient evidence to support the jury's conviction. "There is sufficient proof 

of an element of a crime to support a jury's verdict when, after viewing the 

evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact 

could have found that element beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Bright, 

129 Wn.2d 257,266 n.30, 916 P.2d 922 (1996). "A claim of insufficiency admits 

the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn 

therefrom." State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192,201,829 P.2d 1068 (1992). 

The relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the 

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 

94 Wn.2d 216,616 P.2d 628 (1980); State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 725 P.2d 951 

(1988); State v. Myles, 127 Wn.2d 807,816,903 P.2d 979 (1995). The defendant 

admits to the truth of the State's evidence and the viewing of the State's evidence 

in a light most favorable to the prosecution. 

Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. 

Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). 

The State asks that the information inserted by the defendant on pages 31-

38 of the defendant's brief be stricken. The information was not part of the trial, 
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was not subject to challenge by the State and the majority of the data is irrelevant. 

The insertion of the type of data submitted by the defendant is not supported by 

any law or procedure. This case is not a Personal Restraint Petition, it is a direct 

appeal. 

The defendant cites to her cross-examination in attempts to prove points 

regarding the condition of the dog and the feeding of the dog. These sorts of 

arguments are completely fallacious. In a sufficiency of the evidence argument, 

the evidence is viewed in a light most favorable to the State. The fact that the 

defendant puts forth her views of the evidence are completely pointless. As stated 

previously, "a claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and 

all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." State v. Salinas,

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